
 

 

Notice of meeting and agenda 

 

 

Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee 

 

12.00 Noon, Tuesday, 8th September, 2020 

Meeting will be held by Teams 

 

 

This is a public meeting and members of the public are welcome watch the live webcast 

on the Council’s website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contacts 

Email:  blair.ritchie@edinburgh.gov.uk 

Tel:  0131 529 4085 

 

 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee - 8 

September 2020 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1. Order of Business 

1.1   Including any notices of motion and any other items of business 

submitted as urgent for consideration at the meeting. 

 

 

2. Declaration of Interests 

2.1   Members should declare any financial and non-financial interests 

they have in the items of business for consideration, identifying 

the relevant agenda item and the nature of their interest. 

 

 

3. Deputations 

3.1   If any. 

 

 

4. Minutes 

4.1   Minute of the Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee of 

24.02.20 – submitted for approval as a correct record 

 

5 - 14 

5. Regional Park Issues 

5.1   Operation Boxy – verbal report by Police Inspector Murray Tait 

 

 

5.2   Managing Increased Vehicular Access and irresponsible 

Camping in the Pentland Hills Regional Park – report by the 

Executive Director of Place (circulated) 

 

15 - 28 



 

Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee - 8 

September 2020 

Page 3 of 4 

 

 

5.3   Pentland Hills Regional Park Management Update - verbal report 

by the Parks, Greenspace and Cemeteries Manager 

 

 

5.4   Strategic Management Plan - Update on the Final Draft  - verbal 

report by the Senior Natural Heritage Officer 

 

 

5.5   Update on Heritage Lottery Fund Pentland Path Project - verbal 

report by Senior Natural Heritage Officer 

 

 

6. Any Other Urgent Committee Business 

6.1   Farmers and Landowners – Any Other Items they would like to 

see in the  Consultative Forum Agenda 

 

 

7. Dates of Next Meetings 

7.1   Dates for future meetings – 

 

PHRP Consultative Forum   To be confirmed. 

PHRP Joint Committee   To be confirmed. 

 

 

Laurence Rockey 

Head of Strategy and Communications 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee - 8 

September 2020 

Page 4 of 4 

 

 

Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee Members 

Voting Members 

The City of Edinburgh Council: Councillors Neil Gardiner (Convener), Graeme Bruce, 

and Ricky Henderson. 

Midlothian Council: Councillors Russell Imrie, Kelly Parrie and Pauline Winchester. 

West Lothian Council: Councillor Damian Timson. 

Non-voting members:  

Scottish Water: Alan Fail. 

Scottish Natural Heritage: Janice Winning. 

East Lothian Council (to be nominated). 

Farming: Bob Barr (NFU). 

Landowning: Clare Sturla (SLE). 

Information about the Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee 

The Joint Committee is responsible for the funding and governance of the Regional 

Park and comprises elected members from the constituent local authorities covering 

the area of the Regional Park, and other public bodies with an interest in the area, and 

a representative each from the farming and landowning interests.   The Joint 

Committee meets at least twice each year. 

Further information 

If you have any questions about the agenda or meeting arrangements, please contact 

Blair Ritchie, Committee Services, City of Edinburgh Council, Waverley Court, Business 

Centre 2.1, 4 East Market Street,  Edinburgh EH8 8BG  Tel 0131 529 4085, e-mail 

blair.ritchie@edinburgh.gov.uk/   

 

The agenda, minutes and public reports for this meeting and all the main Council 

committees can be viewed online by going to 

https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1.  

mailto:blair.ritchie@edinburgh.gov.uk/
https://democracy.edinburgh.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?bcr=1


 

Minutes 

Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee 

12.30am, Monday 24 February 2020 in the Regional Park 

Headquarters, Hermitage of Braid, Edinburgh 

Present: 

Voting Members: 

City of Edinburgh Council – Councillors Gardiner (Convener) and Bruce. 

Midlothian Council – Councillor Winchester. 

Non-Voting Members: 

National Farmers Union – Bob Barr 

Scottish Land and Estates – Ms Scales 

 

In Attendance: 

Justin Venton (Midlothian Council), Chris Alcorn (West Lothian), Charlie Cummins 

Edinburgh and Lothians Greenspace Trust, Caroline Clark (Scottish Natural Heritage), 

David Jamieson (CEC), Jessica Morgado (CEC) and Blair Ritchie (CEC). 

 

 

1. Minute 

Decision 

To approve the minute of the Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee of 30 

November 2018 as a correct record, subject to the amendment detailed in appendix 1. 

To approve the minute of the Pentland Hills Regional Park Consultative Forum of 22 

February 2019, as a correct record. 

 

2. Strategic Management Plan - Update Following Consultation 

Responses - verbal report by the Senior Natural Heritage Officer 

The Senior Natural Heritage Officer reported on the Strategic Management Plan – 

Update Following Consultation Responses.   

She indicated that the consultation period of the final draft of Pentland Hills Regional 

Park (PHRP) Strategic Plan was completed.  The process collated 66 responses via 

the Consultation Hub and 10 others directly submitted to the PHRP generic mailbox. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4.1



PHRP Regional Park Joint Committee – 24 February 2020                                            Page 2 of 9 

Comments received came from a wide range of stakeholders, including 

farmers/landowners, visitors, residents and organisations such as Nature Scot. 

To assist the Joint Committee, the following key themes had been identified: 

1. The Plan was difficult to read/ understand 

2. Create better access to the PHRP. 

3. More tree planting in the PHRP. 

4. Stop/ reduce grouse moorland management and heather burning. 

5. The Plan was not sufficiently ecologically/ climate crisis ambitious. 

To assist with the completion of a meaningful PHRP Strategic Plan, it was 

recommended for the JC to debate on the following issues: 

• Was the Plan too ambitious with regards to the resources available (funding and 

staff).  Should the focus be on maintaining existing assets rather than creating 

new ones? 

• Was the Plan ambitious enough on the actions it proposes to tackle climate 

change in the next 10 years? 

• Was the Plan ambitious enough on the actions it proposes for Nature and 

ecosystems restoration? 

There was a clear division of opinions received with landowners/ farmers concerned 

that they would be “dictated” what to do on their lands and the Strategic Plan not clearly 

explaining the benefits for them in operating within the PHRP. On the other hand, 

visitors felt that landowners/ farmers should play their roles in delivering solutions to 

tackle the climate crisis/ habitat restoration and for the Strategic Plan to find a way to 

ensure the opportunity for the 10,000ha of land to be put to the “greater good”. 

The consultation process has identified a clear gap with the Strategic Plan:   

How to reconcile landowners/ farmers ambitions and rights on their lands, public 

exercising their rights of access and Nature’s requirements in the lights of Edinburgh’s 

Climate Emergency situation?  Could the creation of a Climate Emergency Action Plan 

be considered to release the full potential of the PHRP to answer this crisis?  There 

was an opportunity for this Plan to lead and demonstrate innovative approaches with 

diverse stakeholders and showcase it to the 0.5 million visitors/ year.  Was there 

another Regional Park which could be used as an example? 

Discussion took place and the following issues were raised: 
 

• There should be funding from the heritage lottery bid.  

• The plan should be more ambitious in addressing climate change and the 

Council should lead on this. 

• Working with landowners and land users should not delay the plan.  

• The effect of burning heather.  

• There should be and action plan on climate emergency.  

• Whether this should be a strategic management action plan.  

Page 6



PHRP Regional Park Joint Committee – 24 February 2020                                            Page 3 of 9 

• The plan would include the management plan, the operation plan and 

implementation plan.  

• There should be greater emphasis on better public access.  

• Landowners should be encouraged to plant trees.  

• Tree planting was a priority for Scottish Forestry.  

• Whether trees were better at absorbing carbon than grass.  

• There were funding sources for tree planting.  

• There should be more focus on safe walking and cycling.  

• Active travel should be promoted and public transport provided. 

• Providing better links would be advantageous and could receive funding.  

• Some dog walkers were driving to Harlaw, polluting the countryside and 

sometimes dogs disturbed wildlife.  

• The code for responsible usage should be better promoted. 

• The Council wanted people to benefit by accessing the countryside, but the 

effect of camping should be considered.  

Decision 

1) Scottish Natural Heritage to send link to Committee Services when funding was 

available (to help combat climate change) and for Committee Services to 

forward this to members. 

 

2) The Senior Natural Heritage Officer to put proposals on tree planting into the 

Operational Plan. 

 

3) ELGBT to provide an update to the next meeting, giving more detail on tree 

planting.  

 

4) Scottish Natural Heritage to check if they had enough information on heather 

burning specifically for the pentlands. 

5) All members to provide input to the meeting and identify areas for woodland 

planting in the Pentlands Area. 

6) The next meeting of the Consultative Forum to consider having Pentlands and 

climate change as a theme. 

7) The Senior Natural Heritage Officer to include in the Operational Plan a 

commitment to access, with the caveat that funding was required for paths, then 

get more detail for the operational plan. 

8) To note that there was an issue with providing public transport to the Pentlands 

and the Parks, Greenspace and Cemeteries Manager to find out who would take 

this forward. 

9) The Senior Natural Heritage Officer to circulate the Plan electronically to the 

members for approval. 

Page 7



PHRP Regional Park Joint Committee – 24 February 2020                                            Page 4 of 9 

 

3.  Update on Heritage Lottery Fund Pentland Path Project 

The Senior Natural Heritage Officer gave an update on the Heritage Lottery Fund 

Pentland Path Project.  This included the following: 

Background: 

Path erosion was a problem in PHRP due to fragility of vegetation, soil, high level of 

rainfall and high visitor number resulting in extensive path erosion, loss of habitat and 

landscape impact. 

Upland Path Audit: 

Edinburgh Lothian and Greenbelt Trust appointed COAT (Cairngorms Outdoor Access 

Trust) for upland path audit in 2016 to provide recommendation for project development 

with CEC as lead authority.  The key recommendation was:  “To engage with 

stakeholders on prioritizing paths for a potential capital programme.” 

Conclusion 

• Substantial erosion focusing at “Edinburgh end” of PHRP, on high and ridge 

routes where use was concentrated. That’s where priorities lay. 

• Upgrading low level routes (underused now as in bad state) could result in 

deflecting people away from higher more sensitive routes. 

• Project strands around focusing on skills training of younger people in 

Edinburgh, volunteers etc. 

•  

Capital program suggestion: 

• Provide an entire path network within Pentlands that would be sustainable, 

attractive and open up the entire hill network to a much wider range of users. 

• Cost £1.68 million and £2.5 million contingency figure over 4-5 years phased 

program. 

 

Indicative Costing Path Project 

Details were given of the indicative costs for the Path Project 

Priority 
 

1. Substantially damaged path; needed to be addressed with real urgency. 

2. Deteriorated/ damaged path that needed intervention; may incur much higher 

cost if allowed to deteriorate further. 

3:  Damaged path; rate of change was slow; could be on hold if funding was not 

present. 

4:  Vehicle tracks, no capital work required. 

 

Page 8



PHRP Regional Park Joint Committee – 24 February 2020                                            Page 5 of 9 

The representative of the Edinburgh and Lothians Greenspace Trust (ELGBT) 

indicated that he had tried to establish if they were still managing to meet the criteria for 

lottery funding.   It was necessary to contact the lottery fund again to determine how 

would this fit in with their priorities. It might be through the training route.  It was 

necessary to follow up with that.  He did not think that there were other potential 

sources for funding.  The overall cost would be considerably more than £1.6 m. 

Discussion took place and the following issues were raised: 

• Where would the £10,000 come from?  

• The key element for the lottery funding was the local authority contribution, 

which was £180,000 in total. 

• It might be possible to get the landowners to help if there were benefits.  

• Whether landowners would pay for damage caused by outside forces.  

• Edinburgh and West Lothian Councils were both short of funding.  

• Developer contributions could be considered.  

• It might be possible to use Crowd Funding, the Outdoor Access Trust or the 

Prosperity Fund.  

• The unusual aspect of this lottery bid was that it related to works that were 

mostly out with council land, therefore a portion would have to externally 

sourced.  

• It was easy to raise funding for tree planting, but paths were more difficult.  

• A donation scheme would require a long-term sustainable campaign.  

• Glamping or charging might be able to generate funding.  

• A social inclusion theme should be included.  

• There should be discussions with landowners to progress matters. 

• How existing habitats crossed over.  

Decision 

1) The representative from The ELGBT to establish if the criteria for lottery funding 

was still being met.   

 

2) The representative from The ELGBT and the Senior Natural Heritage Officer to 

meet up with Outdoor Access Trust and report back to the Joint Committee. 

3) Discussions to take place with landowners to progress matters for raising 

money. 

4) The representative from Midlothian Council to find out what type of development 

contributions might be made. 

5) The Parks, Greenspace and Cemeteries Manager to contact Planning to ensure 

there was Section 75 as required.  

 

 

Page 9



PHRP Regional Park Joint Committee – 24 February 2020                                            Page 6 of 9 

4. Workplan Delivery Update 2019/20  

The Senior Natural Heritage Officer gave an update on the Workplan Delivery 2019/20.  

This included the following: 

Biodiversity: 

• Carrying out actions for Edinburgh and Midlothian Biodiversity Action Plans. 

• Surveys – 10 public surveys took place, 38 people attended (most ever since the 

surveys started). 

• A volunteer carried out bat surveys at 7 locations in the Regional Park. 

• With co-operation from the landowner, the Heritage Service worked with River 

Life on a project to take cuttings of Aspen in the Regional Park and grow them 

on to plant back in the Park and on the River Almond and Avon.  

• Hillend: 30 more junipers and 40 other trees were planted by volunteers in the 

Country Park. 

• Management of wildflower meadows. 

Interpretation/Signage/Marketing 

• Retained Green Flag. 

• New PHRP website.  

• Regular Facebook posts via PHRP page. 

• Guided walks and activities.  

• Seasonal signage.  

• 77 wooden routed signs were surveyed and either removed if no longer needed, 

refurbished or replaced with new ones. 

• Harlaw: Doors Open Day 2019 / Annual Livestock Worrying campaign 

/Responsible access event / Operation Owl / Hooked on Harlaw in July. 

• Flotterstone Glen: livestock awareness events run in association with Penicuik 

Police. 

Friends of the Pentlands: 

• Implementation of the Harlaw Wildlife Garden Management plan. 

• FoP Tea and Cakes – successful fundraising at Harlaw June, Sept.   

• Lead education groups at Harlaw. 

• Work squad improved drainage bars on Cockrig section of Maidens Cleugh 
path. 

• Extra drainage put in around Threipmuir car park. 

• Upgrade of Permissive path. 

• Buckie Brae path and Phantom’s Cleugh: drains dug and resurfaced utilizing 
sheep wool 

• Thieves Road (Drovers Road, Harperrig) improving access through installing 
more sleeper bridges and way marking 

Volunteer Ranger Service: 

• 7 new volunteer recruited. 

Page 10



PHRP Regional Park Joint Committee – 24 February 2020                                            Page 7 of 9 

• 25 active voluntary rangers. 

• 93 day-long patrols completed, and assist with wildlife surveys, public events 

and guided walks. 

• Looking into options to set up a new branch of the Volunteer Ranger Service to 

carry-out practical conservation work under the supervision of a trained 

Volunteer Ranger. 

Harlaw: 

• Harlaw wildlife garden management plan updated 2018-2013.  

• Food concession update. 

• Drystone dyking association continue to use Harlaw dykes for training and have 

repaired several fallen sections.  

• Camping litter and fires. 

• Community Alcohol Partnership.  

• Harlaw-Black Spring “Shelter Belt” path upgrade.   

Bonaly Area: 

• Tree management by volunteers. 

• TWIC moorland management report. 

• FOP:  upgrade of Permissive Path. 

Car Park: 

• Car park donation box put in January 2019. 

• Bonaly Car Park Ownership transfer and new plan.  

• Vandalism - Due to vandalism of the stone Stell, significant repairs were carried 

out by a contractor to make it safe and usable again. 

Harperrig, Threipmuir, Swanston, Hillend and Boghall: 

 

• Harperrig:  West Lothian Development Trust Fund grants application submitted.  

Two new pedestrian gates installed. 

• Threipmuir:  New signs installed.  

• Swanston:  Attended consultations regarding Pentland Trail Centre.  Car park 

donation box put in January 2019. 

• Hillend:  Attended consultations regarding “Destination Hillend”, ski slope 

development. 

 

Dreghorn Flotterstone Carlaw to Carlops: 

 

• Visit Scotland Signs to be installed immediately 

• Flotterstone Car Park: improvement of area outside Pentland Hills Café Express, 

donations box broken into twice.  

• Filter Beds:  £3000 grant gained via ELGB. 

• Green Cleugh:  Stepping Stones replaced with help from Forestry Department. 

• Eastside Farm: Illegal 4x4s. 

• Laverockdale area improvement: bridge/ steps / gabions. 

Page 11



PHRP Regional Park Joint Committee – 24 February 2020                                            Page 8 of 9 

 

Discussion took place and the following points were made: 

 

• Work was being carried on electronic donations for the car park. 

• The donations should be uplifted regularly, to minimise the effect of theft. 

• Some of the funding money from the HLF bid could be ringfenced. 

• Signs could be used to invite donations and explain what their purpose was.   

• It would be possible to consider the use of QI codes. 

Decision  

Members to send the The Senior Natural Heritage Officer suggestions regarding the 

Workplan Delivery. 

 

 5.  Harlaw House – Café and Car Parking 

The Convener gave a brief update on Harlaw House.  He indicated that the property 

would again be put on the market. 

Decision 

The Senior Natural Heritage Officer to send an update to the Convener if there were 

any developments. 

 

6.  Friends of the Pentlands 

The Joint Committee noted with regret the passing John Stirling of the Friends of the 

Pentlands. 

 

7.  Dates for Future Meetings   

PHRP Consultation Forum – To be confirmed. 

PHRP Joint Committee – 29 May 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 12



PHRP Regional Park Joint Committee – 24 February 2020                                            Page 9 of 9 

 

Appendix 

To note that ELGBT was not a non-voting member of the Joint Committee. 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee 
 

10am, Tuesday, 8 September 2020 

Managing increased vehicular access and irresponsible 

camping in the Pentland Hills Regional Park 

Executive/routine Routine 
Wards Pentland Hills 
Council Commitments 43. Continue to upgrade our existing parks 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 That Committee supports the measures proposed to manage motor-vehicle access 

to and parking within the Regional Park, as well as proposals to reduce the impact of 

antisocial activities caused by irresponsible camping at the Park’s principal visitor 

locations. Specifically agreeing that: 

 Proposed traffic management measures be referred to the relevant 

Committees of Midlothian and the City of Edinburgh Councils. 

 A business case for the upgrading and expansion of principal car parks be 

presented at the next Joint Committee meeting. 

 A report be submitted to the next Joint Committee meeting exploring 

sustainable access and active travel opportunities. 

 A business case for establishing an eco-campsite be presented at the next 

Joint Committee meeting. 

 A business case for introducing mandatory parking charges be presented at 

the next Joint Committee meeting. 

 

 

Paul Lawrence 

Executive Director of Place 

Contact: David Jamieson, Parks & Greenspace Manager 

E-mail: David.Jamieson@edinburgh.gov.uk | Tel: 07825 552 288 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5.2



 
Report 
 

Managing increased vehicular access and irresponsible 

camping in the Pentland Hills Regional Park 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1  The recent health crisis has highlighted a range of growing recreational and traffic 

management pressures on the Pentland Hills Regional Park (PHRP), notably 

irresponsible wild camping, anti-social behaviour, and a significant rise in the use of 

car parks, causing overflow onto adjacent access roads. This report addresses 

these issues, proposing a series of actions that if implemented will help limit their 

impact on the sustainable use of and access to the Regional Park. The specific 

measures proposed related to the Regional Park are: enhanced traffic and parking 

controls, creating additional off-road parking provision, development of active travel 

alternatives, creation of a formal eco-camping facility with toileting provision, 

enforcement of Park Management Rules, and the introduction of parking charges to 

raise revenue to pay for these specific measures.  

 

3. Background 

3.1 The Pentland Hills Regional Park has been growing in popularity over the years, 

with significantly more visitors accessing its principal beauty spots during the 

current Covid-19 pandemic. The last survey conducted in 2015/16 estimated to be 

600,000+ annual visitors to the Park. 

3.2 The work of the Regional Park team is dedicated to providing visitor and land 

management services that allow people to enjoy the landscape and wildlife of the 

Pentland Hills without damaging its environment. Services provided by the Regional 

Park team enable people to engage with nature, take physical exercise and 

participate in outdoor recreational activities. Protection of the high-quality upland 

environment that people come to enjoy is therefore a key role for the Regional Park. 

3.3 Many of the 18 car parks in the Regional Park (Appendix 1) were originally created 

to alleviate local problems which occurred when inconsiderate parking blocked farm 

and residential access. However, ever-increasing access to the hills by motor-

vehicles means that they are regularly reaching full capacity, resulting in significant 

vehicle displacement at the most popular sites, which is detrimental to relationships 

Page 16



with adjacent farmers and land managers and is undermining the effectiveness of 

parking provision.  

3.4 Inconsiderate parking outside of the designated car parks cannot be controlled 

directly by the Regional Park service. Rather, the Roads Authority need to introduce 

and enforce appropriate measures, such as parking restrictions through yellow-

lining and/or Road Traffic Regulation Orders. Police Scotland’s Roads division has 

an input into the proposal of new Orders by local authorities but does not decide or 

enforce them. They however can intervene when dangerous parking or road 

obstruction takes place on roads. 

3.5 People have wild camped for many years within the Regional Park. When carried 

out in small numbers, for short periods, and with respect for the local environment, 

this has caused few problems. In recent years however there has been an increase 

in the number of people camping, particularly on weekends with accompanying 

good weather. This has escalated further following the Coronavirus outbreak, with 

many now visiting in larger groups and exhibiting significant levels of antisocial 

behaviour. This is a trend that seems to be occurring across Scotland and the UK. 

Evidence from staff engaging with these groups is that some are visiting from other 

parts of Scotland specifically to camp in these areas. Most of this activity is focused 

in the woodlands around the City of Edinburgh Council owned reservoirs at Harlaw, 

Threipmuir and Bonaly, and within the lower woodland area of Bonaly Country Park. 

(Appendix 2)  

3.6 Many campers are leaving significant amounts of litter, including human waste, 

sanitary items and toilet paper. Campers are also sourcing wood for campfires from 

living trees, and when accessing the water to swim are impacting on recreational 

anglers who pay to fish on the reservoirs. 

3.7 The Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003 states that people can exercise access rights 

for recreational purposes. However, it does not define "recreational purposes" but 

the Scottish Outdoor Access Code (SOAC) gives examples of active pursuits, which 

includes wild camping. Guidance on wild camping states that this type of camping is 

lightweight, done in small numbers and only for short periods in any one place, and 

that the “Leave No Trace” ethos applies. Although wild camping can be carried out 

wherever access rights apply, much of what we are now seeing does not fit with this 

guidance. 

3.8 Regional Park officers engage with all campers they meet to explain what 

responsible use of the countryside means and to encourage them to remove all 

rubbish and leave no trace. Where litter is left, staff and volunteers then clear this 

away. This is a considerable drain on effective use of staff and volunteers time to 

pursue other Park duties and projects. Fire lighting within woodland is actively 

discouraged, and during periods of high fire risk this extends to all open fires within 

the Regional Park. Responsible use messages are also promoted using the 

Pentland Hills website and Facebook page, alongside posters and signs on site. 

Recent campaigns have highlighted ways to camp and toilet responsibly.  

 

Page 17



4. Main report 

4.2 Following informal discussions with stakeholders and other interested 

representatives, several actions have been proposed that, collectively, would 

enable a strategic approach to the management of inconsiderate Regional Park 

visitors and reduce the incidence of those antisocial behaviours occurring at 

principal access and beauty spots. These are listed as follows: 

Traffic management 

4.2 Additional traffic management measures to be explored to limit vehicle speeds 

along routes regularly shared by pedestrians, cyclists and motor vehicles, notably at 

Harlaw Road and Mansfield Road; discourage car parking displacement along the 

access roads when Regional Park car parks are at capacity, or in the event of car 

park charges being implemented, notably at Harlaw Road, Mansfield Road, Bonaly 

Road, and the A702 trunk road adjacent to Flotterstone. 

4.2.1 Installation of safety signage to alert vehicle users of pedestrians, cyclists 

horse riders etc on Regional Park access road.  If supported by PHRP Joint 

Committee, these proposals will be referred to the relevant committees of 

Midlothian and The City of Edinburgh Council’s for consideration to advance 

the necessary Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO). 

Upgrade/expansion of principal car parks 

4.3 Given that existing formal parking provision is regularly exceeded, investment is 

required to increase the capacity and upgrade those car parks under greatest 

pressure. Improvements to surfacing, space marking, vehicle manoeuvrability and 

signage is required; and the addition of extra disabled parking provision, electric 

charging points and bicycle locking rails would be beneficial. 

4.3.1 The installation of physical barriers at the entrances to the main Regional 

Park car parks will allow for these to be closed to vehicular access as 

required. Although this would help control vehicular access during periods of 

“lockdown” or excessive antisocial behaviour, such measures would need to 

take account of operating costs, potential displacement of parking to adjacent 

roads, impact on legitimate users (e.g. local residents, rescue services, 

angling club members, café customers, campsite users etc), and the relative 

effectiveness in curtailing unwanted activities. 

4.3.2 The link between antisocial behaviour and access to car parks during the 

evening and dark nights is not clear. The recent Police operation in the 

Regional Park introduced to curb inconsiderate camping has been effective 

without the need for car park closure. A summary report will be made 

available by Police Scotland in due course. 

 

Encouraging sustainable access and Active Travel 

4.4 The Pentland Hills Regional Park is not easy to visit without recourse to a car or 

other motor vehicle. There is therefore a need to improve existing links and 

Page 18



information for the public transport routes to the main Regional Park access points 

and enhance off-road and active travel provision.  

4.4.1 The construction of a pavement for pedestrians to use along both Harlaw 

Road and Mansfield Road but encourage access on foot and reduce the 

likelihood of conflict with vehicular traffic. There is also scope to develop and 

extend footpath links from Currie and Balerno to Harlaw. The Friends of the 

Pentland Hills and the Water of Leith Conservation Trust are in discussion 

with Rosebery Estates on how to best fund and deliver this project.  

4.4.2 As there are no public transport links to the Harlaw/Threipmuir and 

Flotterstone entry points, establishing bus shuttle routes during weekends 

and school holidays should be explored and evaluated. 

 

Park Management Rules and establishing an eco-campsite 

4.5 Section 112 of the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 empowers local 

authorities to make Park Management Rules for outdoor parks and green spaces 

under its management. Bonaly Country Park and both Harlaw and Threipmuir 

reservoirs also fall within the scope of the City of Edinburgh Council Park 

Management Rules (Appendix 2), which prohibit (unless written permission has 

been given): 

• Lighting an open fire 

• Camping within 1 mile of a public road 

4.5.1 Council Officers can instruct those breaking (or about to break) a rule to 

leave the park. However, as they have no further powers if people refuse to 

do so, enforcement requires the support of Police Scotland. 

4.5.2 Current staffing levels within the Regional Park service limits it ability to 

enfore the Park Management Rules, as offences usually occur in the 

evening when there is a no staff presence, to witness an offence. 

4.5.3 Many of the current anti-social behaviours exhibited by some campers and 

other visitors (e.g. vandalism, urinating of defecating in circumstances 

causing annoyance to others) can already be addresses by Police Scotland 

using fixed penalty notices. 

4.5.4 Section 12 of The Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003 sets out powers for 

local authorities to make byelaws.  However, Scottish Government 

guidance states that these should only be the considered after other 

management measures or advice have proven ineffective. 

4.5.5 Police Scotland officer have advised that an efficient strategy to reduce anti-

social behaviour in an area is to increase the presence of responsible 

visitors and responsible campers, who often deter those who don’t act 

responsibly.  Establishing a formal, but low-leaver “eco-campsite” at Harlaw 

would provide responsible campers with adequate facilities; would give a 

regular presence to deter irresponsible activities; would raise income to help 

Page 19



cover establishment and servicing costs; and would assist in applying Park 

Management Rules by offering a managed and inexpensive alternative to 

this wishing to camp in this beauty spot (Appendix 2). 

4.5.6 Although no license is required for a camp site in Scotland, it is likely that 

planning permission, even for a basic campsite, will be required. 

Recommended facilities are: 

• Staff presence, to keep sites tidy, monitor usage and manage issues as 

bookings and payments to be processed by an online booking system.  

• Fire pits installed. Wood made available for purchase during the day. Tent 

pitch areas suitably set back from fire pits. Emergency fire / water buckets 

available next to each fire site. 

• Construction of a compost toilet or similar, unless existing toilets can be 

used. 

• A water supply for dishwashing/drinking purposes. 

 

Introduction of car park charges 

4.6  The growth in visitors to the Regional Park has coincided with reductions in the 

resource available from national and local government to manage the 

commensurate impacts. Additional resources from non-traditional sources are 

therefore required if additional management measures are to be introduced. One 

relatively simple and sustainable source is the introduction of mandatory parking 

fees at the principal car parks. 

4.6.1   At its meeting of 16th March 2012, the Joint Committee determined not to 

introduce mandatory parking fees at Regional Park car parks following 

concerns raised by Midlothian Council Transportation Policy Officers, who felt 

that this would displace parking at Flotterstone onto the adjacent A702 trunk 

road. Instead, a voluntary contributions scheme was introduced at the 

Flotterstone, Threipmuir, Bonaly, Swanston and Harlaw car parks, initially for 

cash contributions, and latterly via the online/phone RingGo facility. A 

suggested donation of £2 is advertised (and more options via RingGo), with 

all funds raised used only for new ‘added value’ projects within the Regional 

Park. 

4.6.2 To date the donation scheme has raised £31,000, with an average of £7,000/ 

year generated since the introduction of RingGo in 2017. Although this has 

been a helpful addition to Regional Park investment, it is still a small 

proportion of the potential scale of income that could be generated through 

mandatory charging.  

4.6.3   If parking charges are introduced it is important that enough income is 

generated to meet operating costs and produce a worthwhile net income. 

Although the results of a public consultation presented to the Joint 

Committee in July 2011 found out that respondents were almost unanimously 

Page 20



objecting to the use of a private parking operator and that “enforcement 

would be seen as a source of antagonism and be detrimental to the working 

relationship between the Regional Park and visitors”, it would be interesting 

to carry out a new consultation. Nowadays, people have generally come to 

expect parking charges at many similar outdoor facilities (e.g. National Trust 

for Scotland, Forestry and Land Scotland, Outdoor Access Trust for 

Scotland) and during the initial period of adjustment, it will be important that 

the purpose and intended use of charges be clearly presented as an 

opportunity to support and sustain the facilities people come to enjoy in the 

Regional Park for it to be a success. 

4.6.4 Commercial operator can provide services including cash collection (at an 

hourly rate), issue of penalty notices and cost of recovery operations and 

physical control measures on site. 

4.6.5 If the charges were to be applied to the 4 principal car parks then alternatives 

car parks, distributed evenly around the Park boundary, would be available 

free of charge for people on lower incomes who might otherwise have found 

the charge a deterrent to visiting the Regional Park. 

4.6.7   Season tickets which would be attractive to regular visitors and local 

communities would need to be thought of and a free pass to be made 

available to blue badge holders along with educational groups and bailiffs/ 

Friends of Pentland Hills for example. 

 

5. Next Steps 

5.1  Explore further, refine and develop those recommendations supported by 

Committee, providing more detail to Committee on the advantages, implications and 

costs of each, and initiating wider consultation with relevant stakeholders as 

appropriate. 

 

6. Financial impact 

6.1 Most of the measures proposed will have financial implications – both capital and 

revenue. Further work is required to determine the costs of each proposed 

measure. 

6.2 The introduction of mandatory car parking charges at the principal Pentland Hills 

Regional Park car parks is estimated to generate between £70,000 to £150,000 (ex 

VAT)/ year in revenue (Appendix 3). This should be sufficient to prepare business 

cases for those measures that proceed. 

 

Page 21



7. Stakeholder/Community Impact 

7.1 An initial meeting to explore solutions was held with Ward members and 

stakeholder representatives on 5 August 2020. 

7.2 Formal consultations will be required for some of the measures proposed and will 

be led by the Pentland Hills Regional Park team should they be supported by 

Committee. 

 

8. Background reading/external references 

8.1 None 

 

9. Appendices 

9.1 Appendix 1 - Parking areas in the Pentland Hills Regional Park, table and map 

9.2 Appendix 2 - Land ownership map representing CEC owned land in the Pentland 

Hills Regional Park. 

9.3 Appendix 3 - Estimated income generation from 4 main car parks in the Pentland 

Hills Regional Park. 

 

  

Page 22



Appendix 1 

Parking areas in the Pentland Hills Regional Park, table and map. 

Entrances to 
the Regional 
Park where 
parking is 
possible 

Spaces Blue 
badge 
spaces 

description LA area Owner / 
responsibility 

Notes 

Carlops 14   Car park Scottish 
Borders 
Council 
(SBC) 

SBC Informal. 
Not in 
PHRP 

Nine Mile 
Burn  
EH26 9LZ 

10 0 Car park Midlothian 
Council 
(MLC) 

MLC Some 
spaces 
used by 
residents 

Kirk Road 
End 

8 0 Lay-by MLC Bear 
Scotland 

  

Flotterstone 
Visitor 
Information 
Point & café 
EH26 0PP 

68 3 Car park MLC MLC Donation 
box in place 

Castlelaw 6 0 Car park MLC Ministry of 
Defence 
(MoD) 
or/Scotland's 
Rural College 
(SRUC) 

Informal 
parking 
area 

Boghall 
EH10 7DX 

20 0 Car park MLC SRUC Due to be 
reduced in 
size  

Hillend 
Upper  
EH10 7DU 

24 0 Car park MLC MLC Probably 
due to be 
redeveloped 
by 
Midlothian 

Hillend 
Lower  
EH10 7DU 

12 0 Car park MLC MLC Probably 
due to be 
redeveloped 
by 
Midlothian 

Swanston 
EH10 7DS 

30 0 Car park The City 
of 
Edinburgh 
Council 
(CEC) 

CEC Donation 
box in place 

Dreghorn, 
car park 

20 0 Parking on 
access 
road 

CEC MoD No access 
for some 
time due to 
works 

Page 23



Laverockdale 
EH13 0QX 

N/A N/A Street 
parking  

CEC CEC Residential 
area 

Bonaly 
Country Park 
Upper  
EH13 0PB 

25 0 Car park CEC CEC Donation 
box in 
place. Half 
car park 
grassed and 
requiring 
upgrade 

Bonaly 
Country Park 
Lower 
(Torphin Rd) 
EH13 0PB 

30 0 Street 
parking  

CEC CEC Not used by 
residents - 
entirety 
available for 
PHRP 
parking 

Torphin 
Quarry, 
street 
parking, free, 
EH13 0PQ 

N/A N/A Street 
parking  

CEC CEC Used by 
residents at 
top of road 

Harlaw 
Visitor 
Information 
Point / 
Reservoir 
EH14 7AS 

31 +20 
on 
access 
track 

3 Car park CEC CEC (access 
track owned 
by Rosebery 
Estates) 

Donation 
box in place 

Threipmuir 
Reservoir 
EH14 7JS 

50 3 Car park CEC CEC Donation 
box in place 
(broken) 

Little 
Vantage 

6 0 Car park WLC WLC   

Harperrig 
Reservoir 
EH27 8DH 

12 0 Car park WLC Owned 
privately but 
CEC/WLC 
responsibility 

  

From the table above, the principal car parks can be identified as Flotterstone, Threipmuir, 

Harlaw and Bonaly (Upper and Lower). 

Swanston and Hillend car parks: It can be difficult to differentiate visitors to the Regional 

Park with those paying customers to Swanston Golf Club and Midlothian Ski Centre. 

 

Page 24



 

  

Page 25



Appendix 2 

Land ownership map representing CEC owned land in the Pentland Hills Regional 

Park. 

 

Creation of an eco-campsite could be explored for other CEC owned land such as Bonaly 

Country Park.  

Page 26



Appendix 3 

Estimated income generation from 4 main car parks in the Pentland Hills Regional 

Park. 

Scenario 

average 
number of 
cars per car 
park per day 

% 
compliance 

charge 
per visit 
£ 

estimated 
annual 
income £ per 
car park 

estimated 
annual VAT  
(20%) £ 

estimated 
annual net 
income £ (ex 
VAT)/ per car 
park 

1 15 20 2 2190 365 1825 

2 30 20 2 4380 730 3650 

3 60 20 2 8760 1460 7300 

4 100 20 2 14600 2433 12167 

5 150 20 2 21900 3650 18250 

6 15 40 2 4380 730 3650 

7 30 40 2 8760 1460 7300 

8 60 40 2 17520 2920 14600 

9 100 40 2 29200 4867 24333 

10 150 40 2 43800 7300 36500 

11 15 60 2 6570 1095 5475 

12 30 60 2 13140 2190 10950 

13 60 60 2 26280 4380 21900 

14 100 60 2 43800 7300 36500 

15 150 60 2 65700 10950 54750 

16 15 100 2 10950 1825 9125 

17 30 100 2 21900 3650 18250 

18 60 100 2 43800 7300 36500 

19 100 100 2 73000 12167 60833 

20 150 100 2 109500 18250 91250 

Table 1: Reference table for income generation using the £2 suggested donation for car 

park usage. This table shows different scenarios depending on the number of cars / day 

visiting a car park and the level of compliance which would be linked with the level of 

enforcement implemented. VAT (20%) must be levied for off street parking and would 

apply to car park charges in the Regional Park.  

 

Table 2: Estimated range of net income for each of the 4 main car parks, with a difference 

in the number of cars during week days and weekends; and different level of compliance 

as mentioned in Table 1. Note that the number of cars is based mostly from observations 

weekday 

average nb of 

cars

weekend 

average nb of 

cars

estimated net 

income £ (ex VAT) 

for 20% compliance/ 

year

estimated net 

income £ (ex VAT) 

for 40% 

compliance/ year

estimated net 

income £ (ex VAT) 

for 60% 

compliance/ year

estimated net 

income £ (ex VAT) 

for 100% 

compliance/ year

ML (Flotterstone) 30-60 2600-5200 5200-10400 7800-15600 13000-26000

60-150 2080-5200 4160-10400 6240-15600 10400-26000

CEC (Bonaly) 15-30 1300-2600 2600-5200 3900-7800 6500-13000

30-60 1040-2080 2080-4160 3120-6240 5200-10400

CEC (Harlaw) 30-60 2600-5200 5200-10400 7800-15600 13000-26000

60-150 2080-5200 4160-10400 6240-15600 10400-26000

CEC (Threipmuir) 15-30 1300-2600 2600-5200 3900-7800 6500-13000

30-60 1040-2080 2080-4160 3120-6240 5200-10400

Page 27



and a counting exercise in June 2011. Car numbers can vary greatly during school 

holidays and sunny/ poor weather conditions. 

Page 28


	Agenda
	4.1 Minute of Pentland Hills Regional Park Joint Committee
	5.2 Managing Increased Vehicular Access and irresponsible Camping in the Pentland Hills Regional Park

